NO. 43167-0-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CHARLES FARNSWORTH, JR.,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable Gerald E. Johnson, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

REBECCA WOLD BOUCHEY
Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC
1908 E Madison Street
Seattle, WA 98122
(206) 623-2373

A. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The State failed to present sufficient evidence to establish all essential elements of first degree robbery beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue Pertaining to Assignment of Error

Where the theft in this case was committed without any threat of force, threatening behavior or gestures, or weapon, did the State fail to present sufficient evidence of an essential element of first degree robbery, a threat of force or fear of injury?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural History

The State charged Charles Farnsworth, Jr., with acting as an accomplice to first degree robbery against a financial institution, pursuant to RCW 9A.56.190, RCW 9A.56.200(1)(b), and RCW 7.88.010. CP 1. The State alleged that on October 15, 2009, an accomplice to Farnsworth took the property of Harborstone Credit Union, a financial institution, “by use or threatened use of immediate force, violence, or fear of injury to [the teller], said force or fear being used to obtain or retain possession of the property or to overcome resistance to the taking.” CP 1.

A jury convicted Farnsworth as charged. 17RP 1677.¹ The court found that this was Farnsworth's third "strike," and sentenced him to life without parole under the persistent offender act. 2/24/12 RP 80, CP 690, CP 695-707. This appeal timely follows. CP 716.

2. Substantive Facts

On October, 15, 2009, 69-year-old James McFarland walked into Harborstone Credit Union in Tacoma, presented a note to the teller, and walked away with around \$300 in small bills. 9RP 435, 471, 481, 490, 13RP 1190.

The teller, Sarah Van Zuyt, testified that McFarland approached her station at the counter and pushed the note to her across the counter. 9RP 480-81. He was wearing a wig and dark glasses. 9RP 435. He did not speak. 9RP 500. The note said: "No die [sic] packs, no tracking devices, put the money in the bag." 9RP 483.

Several Harborstone employees, including Van Zuyt, testified that bank policy was to comply with such demands, whether or not there is a weapon. 9RP 486, 10RP 575, 591. Van

¹ Hereinafter, the transcript volumes that are numbered sequentially will be cited by number (i.e., 1RP) and the transcript volumes that are not numbered sequentially will be cited by the date (i.e., 1/2/11 RP).

Zuyt testified that she gave McFarland the cash because of bank policy and her training. 9RP 486. She said the reason for the policy was to avoid anyone being harmed. 9RP 486. She told the police officer at the time that she was not afraid, but did feel angry that McFarland had not provided her with the bag she was to put the money into. 9RP 530-31.

One bank employee testified that Van Zuyt seemed “really calm” after the robbery. 10RP 595. Another teller, Katrina Hinnenkamp, testified that she saw Van Zuyt retrieving the money for McFarland and noted that she seemed “frustrated” both when she took the money from the drawer and when she “shoved” the money to him. 11RP 873-74. However, on the stand Van Zuyt said she was “scared” and “in shock”. 9RP 484. Hinnenkamp said that after the fact, Van Zuyt was “very shook up.” 11RP 882.

Van Zuyt testified that she had also been trained to leave the larger bills in her drawer. 9RP 486. She decided that, since McFarland’s note did not specify large bills, she would select only bills of \$20 and smaller, leaving all the \$50s and \$100s in the drawer. 9RP 526, 532, 490. She handed the cash to McFarland, he said, “Thank you,” and he walked out. 9RP 485. She never saw any weapon or indication of one. 9RP 531.

The tellers and customers watched from the windows of the bank as McFarland walked slowly away from the bank to a truck that was parked in the adjoining Home Depot parking lot. 9RP 441, 10RP 569-70. The truck drove slowly out of the lot and onto the street. 9RP 453-54, 10RP 571.

The truck was stopped by police a short time later. The truck was driven by McFarland's friend, 61-year-old Charles Farnsworth, Jr. 10RP 620, 623, CP 685. Under the front passenger seat, police found the wig, sunglasses and stolen cash. 10RP 626-27. Both men were arrested. 11RP 843, 849.

Facing a third strike that would mean life without parole, McFarland made a deal with the State to testify against Farnsworth in return for a reduction of the first degree robbery charge to first degree theft. 14RP 1347. His possible sentence was reduced from life without parole to eight to ten years. 14RP 1260.

McFarland testified that he and Farnsworth planned to steal from Harborstone that day to get money to buy heroin. 15RP 1390. He said that Farnsworth wrote the note he used. 14RP 1250. According to McFarland, his "experience" told him that the teller would do only what the note told her to do. 14RP 1254. He said he entered the bank, went up to the teller, gave her the note, and she

immediately complied. 14RP 1256. He said he could not tell if the teller was upset. 14RP 1256.

C. ARGUMENT

THE STATE FAILED TO PRESENT SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO ESTABLISH BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT MCFARLAND USED FORCE OR THREATENED USE OF IMMEDIATE FORCE, VIOLENCE, OR FEAR OF INJURY TO OBTAIN OR RETAIN THE MONEY.

Under the state and federal constitutions, a criminal conviction requires proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560, 99 S. Ct. 2781 (1979); State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). On review, evidence is not sufficient to support a conviction unless, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could find all of the elements of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. DeVries, 149 Wn.2d 842, 849, 72 P.3d 748 (2003).

Farnsworth was charged under RCW 9A.56.200(1)(b), which makes it first degree robbery to commit a robbery “within and against a financial institution.” CP 1, 648. Robbery is defined by statute as the taking of personal property from another person:

By the use or threatened use of immediate force, violence, or fear of injury to that person or his property or the person or property of anyone. Such force or

fear must be used to obtain or retain possession of the property, or to prevent or overcome resistance to the taking; in either of which cases the degree of force is immaterial.

RCW 9A.56.190. The jury in this case was so instructed. CP 647, 651. Thus, the “use or threatened use of immediate force, violence, or fear of injury” is an essential element of the crime of first degree robbery.

In this case, the State failed to prove that McFarland used or threatened the use of immediate force, violence or fear of injury. McFarland walked up to Van Zuyt and handed her a note that said: “No die [sic] packs, no tracking devices, put the money in the bag.” 9RP 483. McFarland did not say anything to the teller (other than “thank you”), nor did he make any threatening gestures. 9RP 485, 500. This note does not contain any threat. Van Zuyt testified that her reason for giving McFarland the cash was bank policy, not fear. 9RP 486. At the time of the incident, she told police she was not afraid, just angry. 9RP 530-31. On the stand, Van Zuyt said she was “scared” at the time of what “might” happen, but she did not say that this was due to anything McFarland did. 9RP 484. The evidence showed that McFarland committed a theft by requesting money from Van Zuyt and relying on bank policy, rather than

threats, to obtain that money. 14RP 1254. There is no evidence that McFarland used or threatened the use of immediate force, violence or fear of injury.

The State may argue that under current caselaw, a demand note presented without any threat is sufficient evidence of first degree robbery. The Court of Appeals has held that despite clear statutory language requiring the State to prove that the defendant used force or threats of force, demanding money from a bank teller can create an “implied threat” that elevates the crime to first degree robbery. See, e.g., State v. Collinsworth, 90 Wn. App. 546, 966 P.2d 905 (1997); State v. Shcherenkov, 146 Wn. App. 619, 191 P.3d 99 (2008). The facts of this case are distinguishable from both Collinsworth and Shcherenkov because both of those cases involved evidence of the defendant’s threat.

In Collinsworth, the defendant told the teller “I need your hundreds, fifties and twenties.” When the teller paused, Collinsworth said, “I’m serious.” As the teller gathered the money, Collinsworth added, “No bait, no dye.” Collinsworth was wearing baggy clothing that made the teller unsure if he had a weapon. The teller testified that he: “perceived Collinsworth’s words to be an ultimatum or threat to harm other employees or customers if he did

not comply.” 90 Wn. App. at 546. By contrast, McFarland did not verbally demand money from the teller. His note was not threatening and he did not add any instructions. Moreover, Van Zuyt testified that she did not give McFarland money because she perceived a threat, but because of bank policy. 9RP 486. This is clearly the case, because Van Zuyt remained calm enough to choose the smallest bills to give McFarland, 9RP 526, while if she had been afraid, one would expect her to give McFarland as much as possible.

This case is also distinguishable from Shcherenkov, because McFarland did not use any words in his demand note that could be interpreted as an implied threat. In three of his four robberies, Shcherenkov presented a demand note to the teller “explicitly stating that he was robbing them.” 146 Wn. App. at 628-29. The court held that: “The tellers reasonably interpreted this language to be threatening because robbery inherently involves a threat of immediate force.” 146 Wn. App. at 629. By contrast, McFarland did not use any threatening words like “robbery” or “hold-up.” The note he presented was merely a request for money without any threat.

Even if Collinsworth and Shcherenkov are found to be factually analogous, the court should reject the rule created in this line of cases in favor of the clear and unambiguous statutory language. These cases have wrongly relieved the State of its burden of proving that the defendant used actual “force, violence, or fear of injury.”

Before Collinsworth, Washington law required either “circumstances of terror” or actual threatening words or gestures to support a robbery conviction. 90 Wn. App. at 551 (quoting State v. Redman, 122 Wn. 392, 393, 210 P. 772 (1922)). The Collinsworth court noted that no Washington case had previously found robbery had been committed in the absence of some overt physical or verbal threat or display of a weapon. 90 Wn. App. at 552.

Instead of following established Washington law and the language of the statute, the Collinsworth court followed federal caselaw, which held an overtly non-threatening note and demeanor nevertheless created an “implicit threat” that met the statutory requirement of proof of “intimidation.” Collinsworth, 90 Wn. App. at 552 (citing 18 U.S.C. § 2113(a) and United States v. Hopkins, 703 F.2d 1102 (9th Cir. 1983)). Collinsworth held that an “implied threat”

is sufficient to sustain a conviction for first degree robbery, reasoning:

No matter how calmly expressed, an unequivocal demand for the immediate surrender of the bank's money, unsupported by even the pretext of any lawful entitlement to the funds, is fraught with the implicit threat to use force.

90 Wn. App. at 553-54 (footnotes omitted). While not endorsing all of Collinsworth's language, Shcherenkoy followed it in holding that an "implied threat" is sufficient. 146 Wn. App. at 628.

Collinsworth and its progeny have blurred the line between theft and robbery and relieved the State of its burden of proof on a necessary element of first degree robbery—the use or threatened use of immediate force. Collinsworth's rule flies in the face of clear statutory language and creates a strict-liability crime that turns any theft that occurs within a bank into first degree robbery.

Federal courts have also expressed concern about interpreting the statutory threat (or intimidation) requirement so broadly that it becomes superfluous in every theft. In United States v. Wagstaff, 865 F.2d 626 (4th Cir. 1989), the court stated:

The flaw in this analysis, however, is that it would seem to read the requirement of intimidation entirely out of the statute. It is hard to imagine a theft of money from a bank that could not be characterized as "forceful," . . . and "aggressive." Any face-to-face theft

would seem to create “a dangerous situation.” A theft other than by surprise would be an impressive feat; “fear” must be reasonable fear of bodily harm based on the acts of the defendant. And the presumption that every robbery involves a weapon would seem to make the “intimidation” requirement redundant. The problem with the ... approach, then, is that it substitutes a set of assumptions about the actions of a person taking money from a bank for the individualized analysis of that person’s actual behavior called for by the [statute’s] “intimidation” requirement. This in effect eliminates the statutory command that the government prove intimidation as a separate element of the crime of robbery.

Wagstaff, 865 F.2d at 628-29.

RCW 9A.56.190 does not make every theft in a bank into a first degree robbery, it requires the State to prove that the defendant used an actual threat. The Statutory language is clear and unambiguous and therefore the court should “give effect to that language and that language alone because we presume the legislature says what it means and means what it says.” State v. Radan, 143 Wn. 2d 323, 330, 21 P.3d 255 (2001). If the Legislature had wanted to create a strict-liability offense where a theft is committed in a bank, it could have done so. The courts should not broaden the statute to a point where it essentially makes superfluous one of the statutory clauses.

Collinsworth and its progeny have created a rule that permits the jury to “imply” a threat where the defendant did not actually make one based on what might happen, not what actually did happen. While the bank has good reason to have a policy of teller compliance, this does not convert every theft to first degree robbery. A defendant should not be convicted based on what others might do or might have done in a similar situation. Thus, the rule stated in Collinsworth should be rejected in favor of following the clear statutory requirement of use of force or threat of force.

There is insufficient evidence that McFarland used force or a threat of force in this case because he made no actual or implied threat, made no threatening gestures, and did not have a weapon. Consequently, the State did not prove that a first degree robbery was committed and that Farnsworth was an accomplice to it.