NO. 43167-0

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

CHARLES V. FARNSWORTH, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Garold Johnson

No. 09-1-04643-5

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST
Prosecuting Attorney

By
Kawyne A. Lund
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 19614

930 Tacoma Avenue South
Room 946
Tacoma, WA 98402
PH: (253) 798-7400

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

Based upon the teller's testimony and that of her fellow tellers, it is evidence that Mr. McFarland created sufficient fear and apprehension to accomplish the intended robbery. The record clearly supports the necessary element and defendant's claim should be denied.

b. The defendant was afforded a meaningful opportunity to cross-examine witness McFarland

The defendant argues that he was not able to meaningfully "test the credibility" of the witness. The lengthy record does not support this argument.

Mr. McFarland's testimony spans three separate volumes of transcripts. (RP Vols. 13, 14, & 15). There are over 100 pages of cross-examination alone. RP Vol. 14: 1262-1373; Vol. 15: 1434-1445. A

review of the record demonstrates that defense had plenty of opportunity to test Mr. McFarland's credibility.

Mr. McFarland repeatedly explained his bleak life and circumstances. He testified he and his brother had recently been evicted from the double-wide trailer they had been living not long before the bank robbery. RP Vol. 13: 1190. On numerous occasions, particularly in response to questions by defense, McFarland frankly acknowledged being both a heroin addict and an alcoholic. RP *Id.*² He said he and his brother were "at the bottom." RP *Id.* They had resorted to shoplifting or "boosting" to sustain themselves. RP *Id.* He was asked about his failed rehabilitation. RP Vol. 14: 1283. Counsel elicited Mr. McFarland's intent to steal a car that day but he was "so messed up" he couldn't do it. RP *Id.* 1296-97. He elicited he had been in custody since his arrest a year earlier. RP *Id.* 1275. He was asked in detail about his knowledge of the Department of Corrections and frankly admitted not only having been to prison, but having been there for a lengthy time--evidence he was not necessarily entitled to elicit. RP *Id.* 1351. Defense asked, "*You spent many, many years there [DOC] of your adult life.*" RP *Id.* 1351. Counsel even was allowed to ask Mr. McFarland's offender score under the SRA.

² In response to defense inquiries alone: RP Vol 15: 1264, 1266, 1279, 1280, 1331-32, 1357, 1360.

RP Vol. 13: 1338. Again, this testimony *followed* the State's admission of McFarland's convictions and lengthy sentence. RP Vol. 14: 1258.

Returning to the day of the crime, McFarland admitted he may of stolen the bike, though he did not recall doing so, and there was no evidence to indicate it was stolen. RP *Id.* 1336-37. He further admitted to stealing two bottles of wine that day to help stave off the effects of being "dope sick." RP *Id.* 1373.

In short, defendant was able to aptly demonstrate that McFarland was a long-time heroin addict, an alcoholic, had failed rehabilitation, had made a routine of stealing to support himself, was homeless with no means of support, had contemplated stealing a car on the day of the robbery, and in fact stole some merchandise that day. He further demonstrated that the witness was very familiar with the Department of Corrections, had a high offender score, and spent a large portion of his adult life incarcerated. It's difficult to imagine being able to paint a more dreary or unfavorable image of witness than was allowed. The record demonstrates that defendant was allowed to meaningfully cross-examine the State's witness. This claim should be rejected by the Court.

c. Was defendant allowed to inquire into witness McFarland's motivation?

As with the prior claims, we merely need to look to the record to determine the answer to this claim. McFarland complained he believed

Farnsworth had given statements incriminating him, but still did not volunteer to assist the State. RP Vol. 14: 1261. Unfortunately for Mr. Farnsworth, counsel opened the door to McFarland's primary motivation: the lewd acts and statements by the defendant while both men were at Western State Hospital. RP Vol. 15: 1430. Prior to that, McFarland had not said a word incriminating against Farnsworth, and was still contemplating taking "the beef" alone. RP *Id.* 1430, 1427-28. However, the witness found the defendant's acts at Western State so offensive, and so in violation of "the code" that he no longer was willing to go to prison for life alone. It was this event that motivated him to seek a deal from the State. RP *Id.* 1432-34.

Defense had wide latitude to inquire into the witness's motivation. RP Vol. 14: 1337-38. The witness repeatedly told defense he had a reason for cooperating. This answer was given a number of times in response to questions from defense as to the witness's reason for being a State's witness. RP *Id.* 1337-38, 1342-43.

The record does not support defendant's claim he was precluded from exploring the witness's motivation. This claim must be rejected.

- d. Defendant was allowed to meaningfully inquire into the witness's agreement with the State.

The defendant was allowed to significantly inquire into the witness's "deal." Mr. McFarland was clearly confused at one point as to

the exact crimes to which he had already entered a guilty plea. (*I entered a guilty plea to first degree robbery and first degree theft?* was his answer to counsel's first question on the topic. RP Vol. 14: 1347.) However, the court did not preclude the inquiry. Rather, the court precluded the admission of the guilty plea *document* on grounds it was too prejudicial, likely to confuse, and was not relevant. RP Vol. 15: 1400. This is a dramatically different circumstance.

It is undisputed that the thrust of the witness's testimony was that he was avoiding the "Three Strikes" statute and would not be sentenced to life without parole. Counsel was able to significantly inquire into the agreement, the witness's understanding of it, and more importantly the benefit he was to receive. Counsel even inquired to the more favorable classification benefits that may occur in DOC by not being classified as a three strikes convict. RP Vol. 14: 1348, 1350.

Based upon the elicited testimony, the jury was well informed of witness McFarland's "vulnerable status" and was able to consider it along with the multitude of other information provided. This argument should also be rejected.

- e. In view of the record, it was harmless error for trial court to prelude admission of the witness's convictions for crimes of dishonesty.

i. 2005 theft conviction

The State concedes that ER 609 provides for admission of witness

McFarland's 2005 theft conviction. However, in light of defendant's latitude in being able to examine the witness about his overall criminal history, the error was harmless.

A petitioner relying on a non-constitutional argument must demonstrate a fundamental defect which inherently results in a complete miscarriage of justice. *In re Cook*, 114 Wn.2d 802, 811, 792 P. 2d 506 (1990). For example, a sentence that is based upon an incorrect offender score is a fundamental defect that inherently results in a miscarriage of justice. *See, e.g., State v. Goodwin*, 146 Wn.2d 861, 50 P.3d 618 (2002). In the present case, the error of not admitting several of the witness's convictions is clearly harmless given the totality of his testimony and the evidence of the case.

As discussed above, the witness testified to numerous criminal violations and uncharged conduct--most of which would not have been admissible under ER 609. Additionally, the fact he was convicted of a crime can be inferred by the lay person from the fact that he readily admitted to spending a significant amount of time in the Department of Corrections. Any damage created by the failure to allow such testimony was clearly overwhelmed by the testimony that was ultimately elicited, including the robbery and burglary convictions. Given the nature of the testimony and the overwhelming evidence of defendant's guilt, defendant cannot substantiate a claim of error that resulted in a total miscarriage of justice.

ii. Possession of stolen property

McFarland's conviction for possession of stolen property is not similarly situated to the theft convictions. Defendant makes an argument for a "tolling" period to allow for defense's failure to follow the court rule. To the State's knowledge, the suggested "tolling" exception is not supported by law. ER 609 requires a party give notice of intent to use a conviction that is more than ten years old. The defendant did not comply. The court rule was not properly followed and therefore it was within the court's discretion to preclude its admission, creating no error.

Alternatively, any error was harmless based upon the totality of the record and does not provide a basis for a new trial.

- f. The State did not 'offer' defendant's prior robbery convictions.

There were numerous and lengthy pretrial motions in this case. One such motion surrounded the admissibility of the defendant's two prior robbery convictions. The defendant was convicted in 2004 of two separate robberies. CP 742-810. While there were some differences between the robberies, it was the defendant's use of a disguise that was relevant to the present robbery.

The State provided advanced notice of its intent to admit the convictions, as well briefing, and the matter was argued to the trial court. CP 814-822. Contrary to defendant's assertion, the State clearly

articulated proper grounds for seeking admission. The State did not seek to admit the convictions to portray the defendant as a "type" of person that committed robberies. Rather, the State moved to admit his prior robberies pursuant to ER 404(b) for the articulated purposes of: knowledge of the crime, modus operandi, motive, and to refute the absence of mistake. RP Vol. 3: 137-140.

The State did not seek to go into significant detail about the old robberies. Instead, the State argued that limited facts should be admitted, particularly given the defendant's apparent defense where he claimed at arrest that he had no idea that McFarland was going to rob the bank. He told arresting officers that he was there for a drug transaction and had no idea that McFarland was going to rob the bank, but rather thought maybe he was going to get a loan from somebody. RP *Id.* 137. Given this defense, the State was entitled to admit that defendant had been involved in previous robberies involving disguises using wigs and glasses.

After significant argument, the Court ultimately held the evidence of the prior robberies admissible in that it showed the defendant's knowledge of the impending robbery and refuted his statements to police that he had no idea what his co-defendant was going to do. CP 625-628.

It is undisputed the State mentioned defendant's prior robberies in its opening. RP Vol. 9: 10. The State clearly anticipated using the evidence exactly as earlier argued, that is to show the defendant was knowledgeable about the use of disguises in robberies, particularly the use

of wigs. Additionally to show that the idea to use a wig for the Harborstone robbery came from the defendant, thereby showing his advance knowledge of the anticipated robbery. RP *Id.* The only mention of the past robberies was the brief statement in opening. There was no further reference by the State or a state's witness. The State did not introduce or "offer" the evidence.

While the State did not *offer* evidence in its case, the State *commented* on it in its opening statement. The State ultimately elected to use the evidence in its rebuttal case and informed the court and opposing counsel this when asked by the court. RP Vol. 16: 1549. Upon hearing this, the defense apparently elected not to put on witnesses despite having repeatedly argued for their admission. When the court asked the jury to give its attention to defense counsel for his previously reserved opening, counsel responded by resting his case on behalf of the defendant. RP *Id.*, 1561. It was followed shortly by a motion to dismiss based on the State's mention of defendant's prior robberies in its opening. RP *Id.* 1675-76.

The motion was denied. The court held:

[A]rgument made in opening that's not supported by the evidence; on the other hand, the jury is instructed to follow the law as given to them by the court and to follow the evidence that is before them in terms of the testimony of the witnesses and the exhibits that are presented. They're presumed to follow those instructions.

RP *Id.* 1676-77. The court invited defense counsel to renew the motion at a later time. RP *Id.* Defendant did not renew the motion. The court's reasoning still applies and should be affirmed.

We presume that juries follow the instructions and consider only evidence that is properly before them. *State v. Perez-Valdez*, 172 Wn.2d 808, 818-19, 265 P.3d 853 (2011) *citing State v. Johnson*, 60 Wn.2d 21, 29, 371 P.2d 611 (1962). We review a trial court's decision to deny a new trial for an abuse of discretion based on,

“ ‘the oft repeated observation that the trial judge,’
having ‘seen and heard’ the proceedings, ‘is in a better
position to evaluate and adjudge than can we from a cold,
printed record.’ ”

State v. McKenzie, 157 Wn.2d 44, 52, 134 P.3d 221 (2006) (*quoting State v. Wilson*, 71 Wn.2d 895, 899, 431 P.2d 221 (1967)).

Again, as courts have said on other occasions, to maintain a contrary rule is to impeach the intelligence of the jury; it is to say that they will return a verdict on evidence which the court tells them they must not consider—a verdict they would not have returned had the inadmissible evidence been kept entirely from their knowledge.’

Id., 52.

The jurors are instructed to follow the law as given by the judge. Furthermore, that evidence can only come in the form of exhibits and testimony of the witnesses. In the present case, there was neither an exhibit nor a witness that testified or alluded to defendant's 2004 robbery convictions. The jury heard from 20 witnesses and received

approximately 47 exhibits. CP 824-29. Testimony alone spanned two weeks. In view of the totality of the evidence submitted, the inquiry is: Did the State's comment in opening so taint the entire trial such that the defendant did not receive a fair trial. Based upon the overwhelming evidence, the question must be answered with a 'no.'

In addition to the evidence adduced from the witnesses and contained in the earlier section of the brief regarding the sufficiency of the evidence, there was additional evidence as it related to demonstrating the defendant's knowledge and accomplice liability. For example, numerous witnesses described McFarland's disguise as eye-catching, unique, maybe even bizarre. Keeping in mind that he had the disguise on *before* he left the defendant, it seems hard to reasonably believe that the defendant was unaware of McFarland's intent. RP Vol. 15: 1420.

Mr. Naidoo testified the wig was "real big" and his glasses had what appeared to look like, "diamonds" and were really big. RP Vol. 9: 438. Ms. VanZuyt testified that upon spotting McFarland she was immediately suspicious. RP *Id.*, 478. She further described him as "wearing the awkward wig, dark sunglasses[,] which again, you don't need during the time of year that he came in..." RP *Id.* 486.

Teller Hinnenkamp also testified that McFarland looked "very suspicious" as he stood in line. RP *Id.* 868. She stated, when McFarland walked in it was kind of a stop-dead-in-your-tracks, very unusual and she continued to watch him." RP *Id.*

The insurance manager, Mr. Reed, identified the defendant in court as the man he contacted at the truck that didn't want to have contact with him. RP Vol. 11: 771, 780. He testified that Farnsworth talked to him through his hand and fingers in an attempt to hide his face. RP *Id.* He further described the various parking spots Farnsworth tried while waiting for McFarland. RP *Id.* 780-81.

There is also the very compelling statement that Mr. Farnsworth made to Det. Andren. Shortly after being transported to the police station, the detective informed him he was under arrest for robbery in the first degree. Det. Andren described the defendant's look as a "shocked expression," and that he "kind of sat back in the chair." Defendant then made the statement, "We didn't have a gun." RP Vol. 15: 1484. The detective explained the change in the law. RP *Id.*

When the evidence is viewed as a whole, overwhelming evidence was admitted. It cannot reasonably be said that the State's comments at the beginning of trial so tainted the jury that they disregarded all instructions from the court and convicted because of the single comment.

The State's mention of the defendant's prior convictions, in this case, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt and his challenge to his conviction on this ground must fail.

Additionally, the trial court already entertained a motion for dismissal. The trial judge concluded that in light of the court's instructions, and from his vantage point having presided over the entire

trial, there was nothing to suggest the jury did not follow their instructions. For the same reasons the trial court denied defendant's motion, this Court should similarly reject defendant's argument.

- g. The State's evidence was relevant and not unduly prejudicial.

ER 404(b) is designed to preclude *inadmissible* evidence from being elicited in front of a jury. It is not designed for the wholesale exclusion of unpopular or disgraceful acts as argued by defendant. It is designed to preclude evidence that could confuse, mislead or waste time. It also cannot be disputed that the analysis is dependent on the nature of the case.

Defendant argues on appeal that the State presented him as a "criminal type" via Mr. McFarland. Defendant states McFarland called him a freeloader and a liar and cites RP Vol. 13: 1193 (*p. 23, Supplemental Brief.*) However, the only statement that appears is that of accusing him of being freeloader. RP *Id.* 1393. More importantly, it was in response to counsel's questions asking about the nature of his friendship with the defendant. Defense did not object. RP *Id.* Defendant cannot ask a question and then object when the answer is responsive and admissible. McFarland gave a rational basis for his conclusion, which again, was in direct response to the question posed by defense counsel. Counsel did not object that the response was non-responsive or otherwise contrary to the rules of evidence. Defendant cannot deprive the trial court of an

opportunity to rectify a perceived problem or engage in the balancing test of ER 403, and then complain later. Improper questioning cannot be urged as error unless the aggrieved party requested the trial court to correct it, by instructing the jury to disregard it, and claimed error for the court's refusal to do so. *State v. Johnson*, 60 Wn.2d 21, 371 P.2d 611, *State v. Case*, 49 Wn.2d 66, 298 P.2d 500 (1956). In fact, defense counsel spent a fair amount of time eliciting similar responses from McFarland that he did not particularly care for the defendant. RP Vol. 14: 1271-74. The response was invited and defendant cannot now complain.

Similarly, the unfortunate display by the defendant while at Western State Hospital was also the result of counsel's specific inquiry. The witness repeatedly told defense counsel there was a reason why he elected to testify against the defendant. Counsel, however, repeatedly asked questions but refused to ask the reason, leaving it instead, for the State to elicit in re-direct. RP Vol. 14: 1337-38, 1342-43, 1427-28, 1430.

Defendant similarly argues that the statements he made in refusing to do the handwriting exemplar paint him in a bad light. However, it is undisputed that they were not in response to any questions that were designed to elicit a response. Mr. Farnsworth volunteered the statements and instead of merely refusing to do the exemplar, he chose to make additional comments. Defendant did not object to the admission of the statements and the comments were not prejudicial. Alternatively, any

error in admitting the statements was harmless under the circumstances of this case.

- h. The Defendant was not prejudiced by the chair in which he sat during trial.

Defendant contends that being made to sit in a chair that was different from either counsels' in some way detracted from the indicia of innocence.

The Court and the State noted on the record that it is unlikely the jury can notice the difference in chairs. RP Vol. 8: 387, 388. Unlike belly chains, or jail garb, there is nothing unduly prejudicial about the type of chair one sits in during trial. The chair does not speak to any particular criminal inclination or custody status. The corrections officer, Officer Lee, addressed the court and provided reasons why it was a valid security issue. RP *Id.* 386. Furthermore, counsel elected not to document the alleged impropriety by taking a photograph or otherwise specifically describing the situation. The court specifically invited counsel to document the nature of the chair and its appearance related to the position of the jury. RP Vol. 8: 389-90. The judge stated,

I look at it, and it does not appear to be something that someone would necessarily draw the conclusion, like handcuffs, or anklets, or a jail uniform that would clue a juror in automatically this person is in custody. The fact he's in a wooden chair or not in a wooden chair wouldn't necessarily draw I think the average person to that, that he's in custody or not in custody. That's not the conclusion that would be drawn from that in my estimation, looking at the chair and looking at the chair arrangement here. That he is

in a different chair, that could very well be from the juror's point of view because the softer chairs are hard on his back or whatever reasons there may be. But to draw the conclusion that that necessarily is because he is in custody, Mr. Whitehead, I don't think that's a necessary conclusion to be drawn. I think there's a lot more to be drawn from the charges that are pending than from the chair he's sitting. So I don't see this being a problem in this case, and my ruling will stand.

RP Vol. 8: 389-90. The defendant was not unduly prejudiced by being asked to sit in a chair that differed to some degree from that of counsel.

- i. There was no cumulative error such to have affected the outcome of the trial.

There are two dichotomies of harmless error that are relevant to the cumulative error doctrine. First, there are constitutional and nonconstitutional errors. Constitutional errors have a more stringent harmless error test, and therefore they will weigh more on the scale when accumulated. *See Id.* Conversely, nonconstitutional errors have a lower harmless error test and weigh less on the scale. *RP Id.* Second, there are errors that are harmless because of the strength of the untainted evidence, and there are errors that are harmless because they were not prejudicial. Errors that are harmless because of the weight of the untainted evidence can add up to cumulative error. *See, e.g., State v. Johnson*, 90 Wn. App. 54, 950 P.2d 981 (1998). Conversely, errors that individually are not prejudicial can never add up to cumulative error that mandates reversal,

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